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'-' -· FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE September 8, 1974 

Office of the White House Press Secretary 

THE WHITE HOUSE 

STATEMENT BY THE PRESIDENT 

I deeply regret Jerry terHorst1 s resignation. I understand 
his position. I appreciate the fact that good people will differ with 
me on this very difficult decision. However, it is my judgment that 
it is in the best interest of our country. I think Jerry did an outstanding 
job in a controversial period of transition. I thank him for his service. 

# # .a 
1i 

Digitized from Box 16 of The Ron Nessen Papers at the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library
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FOR lN'!MEDlA TE RELEASE SEPTEMBER 8, 1974 

Office of the White House Press Secretary 

-------------------------------------------------·-------·-------

T.t:IE WhiTE HOUSE 

TEXT OF A LEGAL OPINION 
BY THE .ATTORNEY GENERA.L 

The President, 

The Wblte House. 

Dear Mr. President: 

. You have requested my opinion concerning papers and 

ether historical materials. retained by the White House 

C!fice during the administration of former President 

Richard M. Nixen and now in the possession of the United 

3tates or its officials. Some such materials were left 

in the Executive Office Building or in the White Hoose at 

the time of former President Nixon's departure; others had 

previously been deposited with tb.e Administrator of General 

Services. Ycu have inquired concerning the ownership of 

such mater.ials and the obligations of the Government with 

respect to subpoenas and court orders addressed to the 

United States or its officials pertaining to them. 

· To conclude that such materials are not the property 

of former President Nixon would be to reverse what has 

apparently been the almost unvaried understanding of all 

(OVER) 



three branches of the Government since the beginning of 

the Republic, and to call into question the practices of 

our Presidents since the earliest times. In Folsom v. 

Marsh, 9 F. Cas. 34Z (No. 4901), 2 Story 100, 108-109 

(C. C. D. Mass. 1841), Mr. Justice Story, while sitting in 

circuit, found that President Washington's letters, 
l/ 

including his official correspondence, were his private 

property which he could bequeath, which his estate could 

alienate, and in which the purchaser could acquire a 

copyright. According to testimony of the Archivist of 

the United States in 1955, every President of the United 

l/ The official documents involved in the case were: 
Letters addressed by Washington, as commander­

in-chief, to the President of Congress. 
Official letters to governors of States and 

speakers of legislative bodies. 
Circular letters. 
General orders. 
Communications (official) addressed as President 

to his Cabinet. 
Letter accepting the command of the army, on our 

expected war with France. Z Story at 104-105. 
The clear holding on the property point (!2,. at 108-09) 
is arguably converted to dictum by Justice Story's 
later indication, in connection with another issue, 
that copyright violation with respect to the olficial 
documents did not have to be established in order to 
maintain the suit. (!2.. at 114). 
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States begiaaing with George Washiagton regarded all the 

papers aad historical materials which accumulated ia the 

White House during his admlaistration, whether of a private 
2./ 

or official nature, as his own property.- A classic 

exposition of this Presidential view was set forth by 

President Taft lD a lecture preseDted severalyears after 

he had left the White House: 

!/ 

The office of the Presideat is Dot a record-
ing office. The vast amount of correspoDdence that 
goes through it, signed either by the President or 
his secretaries, does Dot become the property or a 
record of the government unless it goes on to the 
official files of the department to which it may be 
add res sed. The President takes with him all the 
correspondence, original and copies, carried on 
duriDg his administration. Taft, The Presidency 
30-31 (1916). 

Statement of Dr. Wayne C. Grover, Archivist of the 
United States, during the H·use Hearings on the Joint 
Resolution of August 1Z, 1955, 69 Stat. 695, To provide 
for the acceptance and maintenaDce of Presidential 
libraries, and for other eureoses (now codified in 44 
u.s.c. ZlOl, 2.107 and 2.108; hereinafter referred to as 
the "Presidential Libraries Act"), Hearing before a 
Special Subcommittee of the Committee on Government 
Operations, House of Representatives, 84th Cong., 1st 
Sess., on 1!+-.J'• Rea. 330, .H. J. Res. 331, and HJJ. Res. 332. 
(hereafter referred to as "1955 Heariags 11

), pp. 2.8, 45. 
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Past Congressional recognition of the President's title is 

evidenced by the various statutes providing for Government 

p.lrchase of the official and private papers of many of our 

early Presidents, including Washington, Jefferson, Madison, 

Monroe and Jackson. See 1955 Hearings at 28. 39-42,; 

Even if there were no r.ecent statutory sanction of 

Presidential ownersh~p, a consistent history such as that 

described above might well be determinative. f\s the Supreme 

Court said in United States v. Midwest Oil Co. • 236 U.S. 

459 (1915): 

[ G J overnment is a practical affair intended for 
practical men. Both officers. law-makers and 
citizens naturally adjust themselves to any long­
continued action of the Executive Department -- on 
the px:esumption that unauthorized acts would not 
have been allowed to be so often repeated as to 
crystallize into a regular practice. That pre"" 
sumption is not reasoning in a circle but the 
basis of a wise and quieting rule that in 
determining the meaning of a statute ·or the 
existence of a power, weigb,t shall be given to 
the usage itself -- even when the validity of the 
practice is the subject of investigation. ld. at 
472-73. 

[W]hile no ••• express authority bas been. granted 
[by Congress] , there is nothing in the nature of 

the power exercised which prevents Congress from 
granting it by implication just as could be done 
by any other owner of p.eoperty under similar con~ 
ditions. !9.: at 474. 
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Moreover, with respect to the practice at issue here, 

there is recent statutory sanction. The 1955 Presidential 

Libraries Act, which serves as the permanent basis of t,be 
. - ~ . 

Presidential Library system, constitutes clear legislative 

acknowledgement that a President has title to all the docu­

ments and historical materials --whether personal or official 

which accumulate in the White House Office during his incum· 

bency. The Federal Records Act of 1950, 64 Stat. 587, which 

was the predecessor of the Presidential Libraries Act, 

authorized the Administrator or· General Services to accept 

for deposit "the perso.nal papers and other p~rsonal historical 

documentary materials of the present President of the United 

States." Sec~ion 507 (e), 64Stat. 588, Tbe word "personal•.! 

qJ.ight have been read as intended to distinguish betwee~ the . . ' ' . ' ~ 3/ ' ' . 
private and offici~l papers of the President. The corres .. 

ponding provision of the current law, however, 44 u.s.c. Zl07 (1), . . ' 

avoids the ambiguity. lit envisions the President's deposit of 

all P~esidential m~terials, n?t only personal ones. During 

'J./ Compare Section 507 (4:~) with Section 507 (a), dealing with the 
records of an agency. A memorandum prepared in the Office of 
the Assistant Solicitor Oeneral '(now Office of Legal Counsel) on 
July Z4, 1951 indicated that such a distinction between private 
and official Presidential papers would be inconsistent ·wftb 
historic precedents, and difficult if not irt?-possible to main-
tain~ It accordingly regarded the Records Act's use of the 
ter-m ''personal" as intended merely to exclude the permanent 
files of the Chief Executive Clerk discussed at page lZ below • 

... 5 -



-

the 'House debate on the Presidential Libraries Act, Congress-

man Moss, who was in charge of the bill, expressly stated: 

Four. Finally, it should be remembered that 
Pr,sidential papers. belong to the President, and 
that they have increased tremendously in volume 
in the past 25 or 30 years. It is ~?-O longer 
possible for a President to take his papers home 
with him anc:l care for them properly. It is no 
accident that the last three Preaidents -- Hoover, 
F. D. Roosevelt, aDd Harry Truman ... have h•d to 
make special provisions through the means of the 
preaideDtial library to take care of their papers •. 
101· Cc)l1g. Rec. 9935 (1955). 

The legislative history of the Act reflects DO disagreement with 

this positioD on the part of any member of the Congress. 

The heariDgs before a Special Subcommittee of the House 

Committee on Government Operations indicate congreseioDal 

awareness of the Act's assumption that all Presidential 

papers are the private property of the President. 1955 

Hearings at 12, ZO, 28, 32, 52, 54, 58. 

A recent discussion coDcerning ownership of Presi-

dentlal materials appears in the report prepared by the 

ataff of the Joint Committee on Internal.Revenue Taxation 

involving the examination of President Nixon's tax returns. 

H. Rept. 93-966, 93d Cong., 2d Sese. (1974). The report 

points to the practice of Presidents since Washington of 

treatia.g their paper a, both private and official, as their 

- 6 .. 



personal property; and to the congressional ratification 

of the practice in the 1955 library legislation. It 

concludes that "the historical precedeD&• taken together 

with the provisions set forth in the Presidential Libraries 

Act, suggest that the papers of President Nixon are con-

sidered his personal property rather than public property." 

M: at Z8-Z9. 

An apparent obstacle to Presidential ownership of all 

White House materials is Article ll, section 1, clause 7 

of the Constitution, which provides: 

. "The President shall, at stated times, receive 
for his services a compensation, which shall neither 
be increased nor diminished during the period for 
which he shall have been elected, and he shall not 
receive within that period any other emolument from 
the United States, or any of them." 

But objection based upon this provision is circular in 

its reasoning, except insofar as it applies to the blank 

typing paper and materials upon which the Presidential 

records are inscribed. For the records themselves are 

given to the President as an "emolument" only if one 

assumes that they are not the property of the President 

from the very moment of thei.r creation. As for the blank 

typing paper and materials, which .are of course of negligible 

- 7 -
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value, they can be regarded as consumables, like electricity 

or telephone service, provided for the conduct of Presidential 

business. In any event, the Constitutional provision can 

simply not be interpreted in eucha fashion ae to preclude 

the conferral of anything of value, beyond hi~ salary, upon 

the President. An eminent authority on the subject states 

the following: 

As a matter of fact the President enjoys many 
more "emoluments" from the United States than the 
"compensation" which he receives "at stated times" 
·-at least, what most people would reckon to be 
emoluments. Corwin, The President 348 N. 53. 

He gives as example& of such additional emoluments provided 

by the Congress the use of personal secretaries and the 

right to reside in the White House. Id. at 348-49. 

Another obstacle to Presidential ownership of the 

materials in question is their character as public docu-

ments, often secret and sometimes necessary for the 

continued operation of government. However, without 

speaking to the desirability of the esta~lished property 

rule (and there is pending in the Congress legislation 

which would apparently alter it--S. Z951, 93d Cong., Zd 

Sess., a bill "[t]o provide for public ownership of 

certain documents of elected public officials"). it must 
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be conceded that accommodation of such concerns can be 

achieved whether or not ownership d. the materials in 

question rests with the former President. Historically, 

there has been consistent acknowledgement that Presidential 

materials are peculiarly affected by a p~blic interest 

which may justify subjecting the absolute ownership rights 

of the ~x-President to certain limitations directly related 

to the character of the documents as records of government 

activity. Thus, in Folsom v. Marsh. supra, Mr. Justice 

Story stated the following: 

In respect to official letters, addressed to 
the government, or any of its departments, by public 
officers,· so far as the right of the government ex­
tends, from principles of public policy, to withhold 
them from publication, or to give them publicity, 
there may be a just ground of distinction. It may be 
doubtful, whether any public officer is at liberty to 
publish them, at least, in the same age, when secrecy 
may be required by the public exigencies, without the 
sanction of the government. On the other hand, from 
the nature of the public service, or the character 
of the documents, embracing historical, military, or 
diplomatic information, it may be the right, and 
even the duty, of the government, to give them 
publicity, even against the will of the writers. 
Z Story at 113. 

That portion of the Criminal Code dealing with the trans-

mission or loss of national security information, 18 U.S. C •. 

I 793, obviously applies to Presidential papers even when 

• 9 -
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4/ 
they are within the possession of the former President.-

Upon the death of Franklin D. Roosevelt during the closing 

months of World War II, with full acceptance of the 

traditional view that all White House papers belonged to 

the President and devolved to his estate, some of the 

papers dealing with prosecution of the War (the so-called 

"Map Room Papers") were retained by President Truman under 

a theory of "protective custody" until December 1946 

Matter of Roosevelt, 190 Misc. 341, 344, 73 N.Y. S. 82.1, 82.5 

(Sur. Ct. 1947); Eighth Annual Report of t~e Arc~ivist of 

the United States as to the Franklin D. RoO_!J!_V_!.!! . .!:!.brary. 

(1947) p. 1. Thus, regardless of whether this is the best 

way to approach the problem, precedent demonstrates that the 

governmental interests arising because of the peculiar nature 

of these materials (notably, any need to protect national 

security information and any need for continued use of 

certain documents in the process of government) can be 

protected in full conformity with the theory of ownership 

on the part of the ex-President. 

i/ Section 11 of Executive Order 11652. makes explicit 
provision for declassification of Presidential material 
that has been deposited in the Archives. 

- 10 -



-
Because the principle of Presidential ownership of 

White House materials has been acknowledged by all three 

branches of the Government from the earliest times; because 

that principle does not violate any provision of the 

Constitution or contravene any existing statute; and because 

that principle is not inconsistent with adequate protection 

of the interests of the United States; I conclude that the 

papers and materials in question were the property of 

Richard M. Nixon when his term of office ended. Any 

inference that the former President abandoned his ownership 

of the materials he left in the White House and the 

Executive Offipe Building is eliminated by a memorandum to 

the White House stafffromJerry H. Jones, Special .Assistant 

to President Nixon, dated the day of his re~signation, 

asserting that "the files of the White House Office belong ;· 

to the President in whose .Administration they were 

accumulated, 11 and setting forth instructions with respect 

to the treatment of such rm terials until they can be 

_collected and disposed of according to the ex-President's, 

wishes. We are advised that the materials previously· 

deposited with the Administrator of Oeneral Services -were 

likewise transmitted and received with the understanding 

-'11-
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of continuing Presidential ownership. 

l must, however, exclude one category of documents from 

the scope of this opinion concerning ownership and advise 

you that their status cannot be definitively c1etermined on 

the basis of presently available information. Although the 

fact is not recorded in the published materials we have 

examined, our inquiry indicates that at least in recent 

memory certain "permanent files" have been retained by the 

Chief Executive Clerk of the White House from administration 

to administration. These include White House budget and 

personnel material, and records or copies of some Presidential 

actions useful to the Clerk's office for such purposes as 

keeping track of the terms of Presidential appointments and 

providing models or precedents for future Presidential 

action. Retention of theee materials by the Chief Executive 

Clerk is of course not neceeaarily inconsistent with initial 

Presidential ownership. In light of the otherwise uniform 

practice with respect to much more important official 

documents, relinquishment of these materials may reasonably 

be regarded as a voluntary act of courtesy on 'fhe part of 

the outgoing Chief Executive. I cannot, however, make an 

adequately informed judgment concerning these files without 
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more extensive factual and historical inquiry, which your 

need for this opinion does not permit. Of course, even if 

such inquiry should show that these particular documents have 

been regarded as Government property, that conclusion would 

not support a generalization of Government ownership with 

respect to the much more extensive other material covered by 

this opinion, as to which the Presidential practice and con­

gressional acquiesence are clear. 

As to the obligations of the Government with respect to 

subpoenas and court orders directed to the United States or 

its officials pertaining to the subject materials: Even 

though the Government is merely the custodian and not the 

owner, it can properly be subjected to court directives 

relating to the materials. The Federal Rules of Criminal 

Procedure authorize the courts, upon motion of a defendant, 

to order the Government to permit access to papers and other 

objects 11which are within the possession, custody or control 

of the government,., •• " Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 (b). A 

similar provision is applicable with regard to discovery in 

civil cases involving material within the 11possession, 

custody or control" of a party (induding the Government) • 

.. 13-



-

Fed. R. Civ. P. 34(a}. In addition, in both criminal and 

civil cases,. a subpoena may be issued directing a person to 

produce documents or objects which are within his possession, 

but which belong to ~other person •. Fed. R. Crir;n. P. 17(c); 

Fed. R. Civ .• P. 45(b). See, !.• .S.•, Couch v. United States, 

409 U.s. 322 (1973); Schwimmer v. Uni.ted States, 232 F. 2d 
',-· . 

855, 860 (8th Cir., 1956). £!£!.:. denied, 352 U.s. 833: 

United States v. Re, 313 F Supp. 442, 449 (S.D. N.Y. 1970). 
' - ' . 

I advise you, therefore, that items included within the 

subject materials properly subpoenaed from the Government 

or its officials must be produced; and that none of the 
":-- ' 

materials cl!l.n be moved or otherwise disposed of contrary 

to the provisions of any duly issued court order against 

the Government or its officials pertaining to them. Of 

course both the former President and the Government can . ·. -~ 

seek modification .of such subpoenas ~nd orders, and can 

challenge their validity on Constitutional or other grounds. 

Respectfully, 

Attorney General 

-14-



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE SEPTEMBER 8, 1974 

Office of the White House Press Secretary 

----------------------------------------------------------------. ..-....- ------·-
THE WHITE HOUSE 

TEXT OF A LETTER FROM RICHARD NIXON 
TO ARTHUR F. SAMPSON, ADMINISTRATOR 
GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION 

Honorable Arthur F. Sampson 
Administrator 
General Services Administration 
Washington, ·D. c. 

Dear Mr. Sampson: 

September 6, 1974 

In keeping with the tradition estabLished by other former Presidents, it is 
my desire to donate to the United States, at a future date, a substantial portion 
of my Presidential i':n.ateriaLs which are of historical value to our Country. 
In donating these Presidentil materials to the .United States, it will be my 
desire that they be made available, with appropriate restri,cUooe: for research 
and study. 

In the interim, so that my materials may be preserved, I offer to transfer to 
the Administrator ofGeneral Services (the .. Administrator"), for deposit, 
pursuant to 44 U.s. C. Section ZlOl, .!!_seq., all of my Presidential historical 
materials as defined in 44 u.s. c. Section ZlOl (hereinafter "Materials"), 
which are located within the metropolitan area of the District of C~lumbia, 
subject to the following: 

1. The Administrator agrees to accept solely for the purpose 
of deposit the transfer of the Materials, and in so accepting 
the Materials agrees to abide by each of the terms and 
conditions contained herein. 

Z. In the event of mydea.th prior to the expiration of the three­
year time period established in paragraph 7A hereof, the terms 
and conditions contained herein shall be binding upon and inure 
to the benefit of the executor of my estate for the duration of 
said period. 

3. I retain all legal and equitable title to the Materials, including 
all lite.rary property rights. 

4. The Materials shalL, upon acceptance of this offer by the Admin• 
istrator, be deposited temporarily in an existing facility belonging 
to the United States, located within the State of California near 
my present residence. The Materials shall remain deposited in 
the temporary California facility until such time as there may be 
established, with my approval, a permanent Presidential archival 
depository as provided for in 44 u.s.c. Section Zl08. 

5. The Administrator shall provide in such temporary depository 
and in any permanent Presidential archival depository reasonable 
office space for my personal use in accordance with 44 U.S .. c. 
Section· Zl08 (f). The Materials in their entirety shall be deposited 
within such office space in the 'manner described in paragraph 6 
hereof. 

MORE (OVER) f 
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6. Within both the temporary and any permanent Presidential 
archival depository. 1 all of .the ~tedals shall be placed within 
secure storage areas "to which access can be gained only by 
U~Je oftwq key(~.: One.kJty, e.saential for access, shall be given 
tom~ alone.as custodian of the Materials. The other key 
may be duplicated a.nd e.ntruated by you·to the Archivist of the 
United States or to members of his staff. 

7 • Access to t.he Materials within the secure areas, with the 
exception of recordings of conversations in the White House 
and the Executive Office Building which are governed by 
paragraphs 8 and 9 hereof, shall be as. follows: 

A. For a period of three years from the date ·of·this instru• 
ment, I agree not te withdraw from deposit any originals 
of the Materials, except as provided in subparagraph B 
below and paragraph 10 herein. During said three-year. 
period, I may :n:aake reproductions of any of the originals 
of the Materials and withdraw from deposit such reproductions . 
for any us~· I . may deem •ppropriate. Except as provided 
in subparagraph :a below • access to the .Materials shall. be 
limited to myself, and to such persons as I may author~ze 
from ~ime to tim~ in writing,. the e.cope of.auch access ~o 
be set forth by me in each said written authorization. 
Any request for access to the Materials made to the Admin­
istrator., ·the, Archivist of. the United States or· any member 
of. the~r staffs. shall be referred to. me •. Aftflll,' three years 
I shall have .the· right to· withdraw from deposit w,ithout 
formality any or all .of the Materia.ls to which this. paragraph 
appl,ies and to retain such withdrawn Materia.ls for any 
purpose or use I may deem appropriate, 1t1clud.ing but. not 
limited to reproduction, examination, publication or display 
by myself, or by anyone else I may approve. 

B. In the event -that pr~uc;tion of the. MateJ"ials or any porf;ion 
thereof is demanded by a subpQen• or other order directed 
to any official or employee of the United States, the recipient 
of the subpoena or order shall immediately notify me so that 
l may respond,theret,o, as the owner and custodian of the 
Materials, with sole right and power of acce.ss thereto and, 
if approp~iate, assert any privilege or defens.e I may have. 
Prior to any such production, I shall inform the United 
States so it may inspect the subpoenaed materials and 
determine ~het}ler to. object to its production on grounds 
of nationaL security or any other privilege. 

8. The tape recordings of converaations in the White House and 
Executive Office Building which.,will be deposit~d pursuant to 
this instrument shall remain on.q~posit until September 1, : 
1979. I intend to and do her~by dO,nate to ~lle United Statee, such 
gift to be effective September 1, 1979, aU,c;:.f the tape recordings 
of conversations in the White House and Executive Office 
Building conditioned ho~ev~r ,on my: continUing right or access 
as specificed in paragraph 9 hereof and on the further 
condition that such ~pes shall be ~estroye4 at th~ time of 
my death or on September 1, 1984, whic~~y~r event shall 
first occur. Subsequent to September 1, 1979 the Adminis• 
t_rator ehall destroy such tapes as 1 .may direct. I impose 
this restriction as other Presidents bav:.e before me to guard 
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against the possibility of the tapes being used to injure, 
embarrass, or harass any person and properly to safeguard 
the interests of the United States. 

9. Access to recording• of conversations -in the White House and· 
Executive Office Building within the' secure areas shall be 
restricted as follows: 

A. I agree not to withdraw -from deposit any originals of-
the Materials, except as provided in subparagraph B 
and paragraph 10 below, and no reproductions shall 
be made unless there is mutual agreement. Access 
to the tapes shall be limited to myself, and to such 
persons as I may authorize from time to time in writing, 
the scope of such access to be set forth by me in 4ach said 
written authorization. No person may listen to such tapes 
without my written prior approval. I reserve to myself 
euctr. literary use of the Lnformation on the ·tapes • 

.B. In the event that production of the Materials or any 
portion thereof is demanded by a subpoena or other 
order directed to any official or employee of the United 
States, the recipient of the subpoena or order shall 
immediately notify me so that I may respond thereto, 
as the owner and custodian of the Materials, with sole 
right and power of access thereto and, if appropriate, 
assert any privilege or defense I may have. Prior to 
any such production, I shall inform the United States 
so it may inspect the subpoenaed materials and determine 
whether to object to its production on grounds of national 
security or any other privilege. 

10. The Administrator shall arrange and be responsible for the 
reasonable protection of the Materials from loss, destruction 
or access by unauthorized persons, and may upon receipt of 
any appropriate written authorization from the Counsel tothe 
President provide for a temporary re-deposit of certain of the 
Materials to a location other than the existing facility 
described in paragraph 4 herein, provided however th~t no 
dimunition of the Administrator's responsibility to protect 
and secure the Materials from loss, destruction, unauthorized 
copying or access by unauthorized persons is affected by said 
temporary re-deposit. 

ll.From time to time as I deem approprirate, I intend to 
donate to the United States certain portions of the Materials 
deposited with the Administrator pursuant to this agreement, 
such ~onations to be accompanied by appropri restrictions 
as authorized by 44 u.s.c. Section 2107. However, prior to 
such donation, it will be necessary to review the Materials to 
determine which of them should be subject to restriction, and 
the nature of the restri ctions to be imposed. This review 
will require a meticulous, thorough, time-consuming analysis. 
If necessary to fulfill this task, 1 will request that you designate 
certain members of the Archivist's staff to assistin this review 
under my direction. 

If you determine that the terms and conditions set forth above are acceptable 
for the purpose of governing the establishment and maintenance of a depository 
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of th~ Material• p~r•UfLP!t to ~4 u.s. c. Section ~lOlao.d for a,c:<:eptlrsg the · 
irrevocable: gift of recoJ,"ding.a. ofconver••tioQe.after, the specified five year 
period for purpoaes as contained in paragraph 8 herein, ~pl~~:••• indicate your 
acceptance by signing the enclosed copy of thi& letter aod returning it 
to me. Upon YQ"r acceptan<=e· we both sha.ll be.-bouod ,by the terD).•. of this 
agreement. 

Sin<:erely, ,·_; 

' ~ . 

I• I Richard Nixon 

·• 

Accepted by: : Arthur F. Sarnp•on /a/ Arthur F. Sampaon 
Administrator . 9/7/74 
General Services Administration 

~ ' • 1 

* * * . ~ ; 
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' . 
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE September 8, 1974 

Office of the White House Press Secretary 

--------------------------------~---------------------------------

THE WHITE HOUSE 

GRANTING PARDON TO RICHARD NIXON 

------·~~----------

BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

A PROCLAMATION 

Richard Nixon became the thirty-seventh President of the United States on 
January 20, 1969 and was reelected in 1972 for a second term by the electors 
of forty-nine of the fifty states. His term in office continued until hie 
resignation on August 9, 1974. 

Pursuant to resolutions of the House of Representatives, its Committee on 
the Judiciary conducted an inquiry and investigation on the impeachment 
of the President .extending over more than eight months. The hearings of 
the Committee and its deliberations, which received wide national publicity 
over television, radio, and in printed media, resulted in votes adverse to 
Richard Nixon on recommended Articles of Impeachment. 

As a result of certain acts or omissions occurring before his resignation 
from the Office of President, Richard Nixon has become liable to possible 
indictment and trial for offenses against the United States. Whether or not 
he shall be so prosecuted depends on findings of the appropriate grand jury 
and on the discretion of the authorized prosecutor. Should an indictment 
ensue, the accused shall then be entitled to a fair trial by an impartial 
jury, as guaranteed to every individuai by the Constitution. 

It is believed that a trial of Richard Nixon, if it became necessary, could 
not Jairly begin until a year or more has elapsed. In the meantime, the 
tranquility to which this nation bas been restored by the events of recent 
weeks could be irreparably lost by the prospects of bringing to trial a 
former President of the United States. The prospects of such trial will 
cause prolonged and divisive debate over the propriety of exposing to 
further punishment and degradation a man who has already paid the un­
prececented penalty of relinquishing the highest elective office in tbe United 
States. 

NOW, THEREFORE. I Gerald R. Ford, President of the United States, 
pursuant to the pardon power conferred upon me by Article n, Section 2, 
of the Constitution, have granted and by these presents do grant a full, 
free, and absolute pardon unto Richard Nixon for all offenses against the 
United States which he, Richard Nixon, has committed or may have committed 
or taken part in during the period from January 20, 1969 through August 9, 
1974. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 8th day of September 
in the year of our Lord nineteen hundred seventy-four, and of the Independence 
of the United States of America the one hundred ninety-ninth. 

GERALD R. FORD 

* * 
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Ladies and gentle~en, I have come to a,decision 
which I felt· I should tell you and all of my .fellow 
American citizens, as soon as I wascertain.in my own 
mind and in my own conscience that· it is the right 
thing to do. 

I have ,learned .already in this. ·office that ·the 
difficult decisiofls.always come to this desk.. I must 
admit that many of them do not. look at al·l the same as 
the hypothetical questions that I have answered freely 
and perhaps too fast on previous occasions. · 

My custoiOary policy is to try and get all. t·he 
facts and to ponsider the opinions of my countrymen and 
to take counsel with my most valued friends. But these 
aeldom agree, and in the end, the decision is mine. To 
procrastinate, to agonize and to wait for a more 
favorable tul"n of ev:ents that may never come, .. OX" more 
compelling ext,~nal pressures that may aa well be 
wrong as right, ia itself a decision of sorts, and 
a weak and potentially dangerous cou:rse for a President 
to follow. 

I.have promised to uphold the Constitution, 
to do what is right as God gives me to see the right, 
and to do the very best that I can for America • 

. I have asked your help and your prayers, not 
only when I be.came President, but many times since. The 
Constitution is the supreme law of our land and it governs 
ou~ actions as citizens. Only the laws of God, which 
govern our consciences, are superior to it. 

MORE 
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As we are a nation under God, so I am sworn to 
uphold our laws with the help of God. And I have sought 
such guidance and searched my own conscience with special 
diligence to determine the right thing for me to do with 
respect to my predecessor in this place' Richard Nixon, 
and his loyal wife and family. 

Theirs is an American tragedy in which we all 
have played a part. It could go on and on and on, or 
someone must write the end to it. I have concluded that 
only I can do that, and if I can, I must. 

There are no historic or legal precedents to which 
I can turn in this matter, none that precisely fit the 
circumstances of a private citizen who ha:s resigned the 
Presidency of the United· States. But it is common 
knowledge that serious allegations and accusations 
hang like a sword over our former President's head, 
threatening his health as he tries to reshape his life, 
a great part of which was· spent in the serv.ice of this 
country and by the mandate·of its people. 

After years of-bitter controversy and divisi-ve 
national debate, I have been advised, and I am compelled 
to conclude that many months and perhaps more years will 
have to pass before Richard Nixon could obtain a fair 
trial by jury in any jurisdiction of the United States 
under governing decisions of the Supreme Court. 

I deeply believe in equal justice for all 
Americans, whatever their station or former station. 
The law, whether human or devine~ is no respecter 
of persons., but' the law is a respecter of reality. 

The facts, as I see them, are that a former 
President of the UnitedStates, instead.of enjoying 
equal treatment ·With any other citizen accused of 
violating the law, would be cruelly and excessively 
penalized either in preserving the presumption of his 
innocence or in obtaining a speedy de·termination of his 
guLL t. in order to repay a legal debt to society·. 

·more 
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During th·k~ ;.lQ.n-g period of del;y and potential 
litigation, ugly passion~ would;again be at'oused. And our 
people would again be pola~ized· in their opinions. And 
the c~~?ibility of our free institutions.of Government 
would a~ain be challenged -at home and abroad. 

. ; i 

In the end, the courts mi_ght we'll hold theft Richard 
Nixon had been denied due process and the verdict of history 
wo~l~ even more be in~onclusive with respect to ·those chai'ges 
arl.Sl.ng out of the period of his Presidency, of which I .:;un 
presently aware. 

But it is not the ultimate fate of Richard Nixon 
that most concerns me, though surely it deeply troubles 
every decent and every compassionate person. My concern 
is the immediate future of this great country. 

In this, I dare not depend upon my personal 
sympathy as a long-time friend of the fot'mer President, 
nor my professional judgment as a lawyer, and I do 
not. 

As President, my primary concern must always 
be the greatest good of all the people of the United 
States whose servant I am. As a man, my first considera-
tion is to be true to my own convictions and my own conscience. 

My conscience tells me clearly and certainly 
that I cannot p~o:!.ong the bad dreams that continue 
to reopen a chapter that is closed. My conscience tells 
me that only I, as President, have the constitutional 
power to firmly shut and seal this book. My conscience 
tells me it is my duty, not merely to proclaim domestic 
tranquility, but to use every means that I have to insure it. 

I do believe that the buck stops here, that I 
cannot rely upon public opinion polls to tell me what 
is right. 

I do believe that right makes might, and that 
if I am wrong, ten angels swearing I was right would 
make no difference. 

± do believe, with all my heart and mind and 
spirit,that I, not as President, but as a humble servant 
of God, will receive justice without mercy if I fail 
to show mercy. 

Finally, I feel that Richard Nixon and his 
loved ones have suffered enough and ¥7ill continue to 
suffer, no matter what I do, no matter what we, as a 
great and good Nation, can do together to make his 
goal of peace come true. 

MORE 
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Now, therefore, I, Gerald R. Ford, President 
of the United States, pursuant to the pardon power 
conferred upon me by Article II, Section 2 of the 
Constitution, have granted and by these presents do 
grant a full, free and absolute pardon unto Richard 
Nixon for all offenses against the United States which 
he, Richard Nixon, has committed or may have committed 
or taken part in during the period from July (Jam'LiiJll"J) 20, 
1969 through August 9, 1971.f.. 

(The President signed the Proclamation) 

In witness whereof, I have hereunto set my 
hand this 8th day of September in the year of our Lord 
1974, and of the independence of the United States of 
America, the 199th. 

END CAT 11:16 A.M. EDT) 
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September 8, 1974 

San Clemente~ California 

STATEMENT BY FORMER PRESIDENT RICHARD NIXON 

I have been informed that President Ford has granted me a full and absolute 
pardon for any charges which might be brought against me for actions taken 
during the time I was President of the United States. In accepting this 

-pardon, I hope that his compassionate act will contribute to lifting the 
burden of Watergate from our country. 

Here in California, my perspective on Watergate is quite different than it 
was while I was embattled in the midst of the controversy, and while I was 
still subject to the unrelenting daily demands of the Presidency itself. 

Looking back on what is still in my mind a complex and confusing maze of 
events, decisions, pressures, and personalities, one thing I can see clearly 
now is that I was wrong in not acting more decisively and more forthrightly 
in dealing with Watergate, particularly when it reached the stage of judicial 
proceedings and grew from a political scandal into a national tragedy. 

No words can describe the depth of my regret and pain at the anguish my 
mistakes over Watergate have caused the Nation and the Presidency --- a 
Nation I so deeply love, and an institution I so greatly respect. 

I know that many fair-minded people believe that my motivations and actions 
in the Watergate affair were intentionally self-serving and illegal. ! now 
understand how my own mistakes and misjudgments have contributed to that 
belief and seemed to support it. This burden is the heaviest one of all to bear. 

That the way I tried to deal with Watergate was the wrong way is a burden I 
shall bear for every day of the life that is left to me. 

II 
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THE WHITE HOUSE 

GRANTING PARDON TO RICHARD NIXON 

BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

A PROCLAMATION 

Richard Nixon became the thirty-seventh President of the United States on 
January 20, 1969 and was reelected in 1972 for a second term by the electors 
of forty-nine of the fifty states. His term in office continued until his 
resignation on .August 9, 1974. 

Pursuant to resolutions of the House of Representatives, its Committee on 
the Judiciary conducted an inquiry and investigation on the impeachment 
of the President ~xtending over more than eight months. The hearings of 
the Committee and its deliberations, which received wide national publicity 
over television, radio, and in printed media, resulted in votes adverse to 
Richard Nixon on recommended Articles of Impeachment. 

As a result of certain acts or omissions occurring before his resignation 
from the Office of President, Richard Nixon has become liable to possible 
indictment and trial for offenses against the United States. Whether or not 
he shall be so prosecuted depends on findings of the appropriate grand jury 
and on the discretion of the authorized prosecutor. Should an indictment 
ensue, the accused shall then be entitled to a fair trial by an impartial 
jury, as guaranteed to every individual by the Constitution. 

It is believed that a trial of Richard Nixon, if it became necessary, could 
not airly begin until a year or more has -elapsed. In the meantime, the 
tranquility to which this nation has been restored by the events of recent 
weeks could be irreparably lost by the prospects of bringing to trial a 
former President of the United States. The prospects of such trial will 
cause prolonged and divisive debate over the propriety of exposing to 
further punishment and degradation a man who has already paid the un­
prececented penalty of relinquishing the highest elective office in the United 
States. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I Gerald R. Ford, President of the United States, 
pursuant to the pardon power conferred upon me by Article n, Section 2, 
of the Constitution, have granted and by these presents do grant a full, 
free, and absolute pardon unto Richard Nixon for all offenses against the 
United States which he, Richard Nixon, has committed or may have committed 
or taken part in during the period from January 20, 1969 through August 9, 
1974. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 8th day of September 
in the year of our Lord nineteen hundred seventy-four, and of the Independence 
of the United States of America the one hundred ninety-ninth. 

GERALD R. FORD 
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N E W S C 0 N F E R E N C E 

AT THE WHITE HOUSE 

WITH JACK HUSHEN 

AT 11:40 A.M. EDT 

SEPTEMBER 10, 1974 

TUESDAY 

MR. HUSHEN: Before I begin today's announcements 
and take your questions, I would like to make a few observa­
tions about the events that brought me to this podium. 

Jerry terHorst is gone, and we will all 
miss him, especially those of you out there who saw him 
as one ofyour own who was working day and night to put 
into effect President Ford's policies and openness in 
this Administration. 

In the short time that Jerry was here, he 
had gone a long way in swinging open the shutters which 
had closed off the communications between the White House 
and the press corps. 

But these of us who worked so closely with him 
in the Press Office during the past month will also miss 
him. He is a professional in every sense of the word, 
and a man of great ability, an individual of the utmost 
integrity. 

As you know, I came to the White House at the 
invitation of Jerry terHorst and by the appointment of 
President Ford. Jerry and I worked together for eight 
years at the Detroit News and then continued to be 
associated as I served as spokesman for Senator Griffin, 
and then at the Justice Department. 

And, of course, it goes without saying that I 
have the greatest respect and admiration for him, and I 
think all of us are grateful for what he did to establish 
President Ford's press policies on such a firm foundation 
in such a short time. 

There have been a couple of problems which I 
think can be cured as individuals who are new to the 
White House become more accustomed to their role and the 
role that must be played by the Press Secretary or by 
the Deputy Press Secretary. 

MORE #26 
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I know the President was disappointed in Jerry's 
decision, as I was, and we wish him well in his new role 
as a columnist for the Detroit News. 

You should know that I do not share Jerry's 
belief that an individual should resign his position 
when he differs with a major policy matter. The person 
on this podium is communicating the President's views, 
not his own. 

Finally, I would like to say --

Q It would save time if you would read a 
little slower and we won't have to ask you to repeat it. 

MR. HUSHEN: I will get used to it. 

You should know that I do not share Jerry's 
belief that an individual should resign his position 
when he differs with a major policy matter. I believe 
the person on this podium is communicating the President's 
views and not his own. 

Finally, I would like to say to each of you 
that each of us on the staff of the Press Office pledge 
ourselves to continue the policy of openness and candor 
established by President Ford and implemented by Jerry 
Ter Horst. 

Those of you who know me know that that has 
been my goal during the eight years that I have been 
speaking for Government officials. The Press Office 
is here to serve the President and to serve each of you. 
We will try to answer your questions, attempt to get 
answers when we don't have them, and continue to say we 
don't know when we don't know, and above all, to be 
as diligent as possible to protect the truth from any 
assaults, cnintentional or otherwise. 

Q Let's have that -- be as diligent 
as possible to what? 

MR. HUSHEN: To protect the truth from any 
assaults, unintentional or otherwise. 

Q 
(Laughter) 

Q 

We want you on the record on this, Jack. 

Did the President approve this statement? 

MR. HUSHEN: No. 

MORE #26 
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Q No, you say? 

MR. HUSHEN: Wait a minute. Let me finish. 

To save what I know will be a lot of questions 
in a specific area, Philip Buchen, the Counsel to 
the President, has agreed to come back to the briefing 
room today to answer additional questions and try to 
clear up some of the mistaken impressions that seem to 
be gaining credibility. 

' He also will have some documents which we will 
make available to you. 

Q At what time? 

MR. HUSHEN: As soon as you are ready to let me 
go. 

Q Will that be for sound? 

MR. HUSHEN: No, the same briefing rules t-7ill 
apply for Mr. Buchen as normally apply in here. 

Q Are you ready for qurstions? 

MR. HUSHEN: Let me get on with some brief 
announcements that I have here. 

As you know, we posted today 1 s schedule. I 
would like to point out that after the President's return 
from Pittsburgh yesterday, because of his early departure, 
he turned his schedule around and he met with Secretary 
Kissinger and Al Haig, and then held a two-hour meeting 
with staff members to discuss options open to him on the 
conditional amnesty program. 

This morning the President again met with 
staff members,· General Haig, Secretary Kissinger, 
General Scowcroft, Jack Marsh, Bob Hartmann, and myself. 

Q vfuich staff members did he meet with 
yesterday on the amnesty question? 

MR. HUSHEN: I don't have their names. 

Q For two hours? 

MR. HUSHEN: I can give them to you. They were 
primarily senior staff. 

MORE #26 
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Q That was yesterday? 

MR. HUSHEN: Yes, last night. 

Q Why couldn't we have that yesterday? We 
asked you 50 times what they were doing. 

Q What time did it end? 

MR. HUSHEN: It ended about -- I think that 
meeting was from 5:00 to 7:00. The President met this 
morning at 11:00 with Mr. Edward Heath, former Prime 
Minister of Great Britian, and presently leader of the 
opposition party in the House of Commons there. 

Secretary Kissinger also attended this meeting. 
Mr. Heath is in the United States on a brief private 
visit and the President wished to take the occasion to 
invite him to the White House and to renew their 
acquaintance and for an informal exchange of views. 

Q Will you answer Ted Knap's question about 
who attended this meeting last night? 

MR. HUSHEN: I said I didn't have the names. I 
would try to get them. 

Q How long was that meeting? 

MR. HUSHEN: Two hours, approximately. 

Q The meeting with Heath? 

MR. HUSHEN: I believe it is still going on. 

Q It began at 11:00? 

MR. HUSHEN: Shortly after 11:00, correct. 

As you have seen from the schedule for today, 
there will be an arrival ceremony for Prime Minister Rabin 
from Israel on the South Lawn. 

Following the arrival ceremony. the President 
and the Prime Minister will meet in the Oval Office where 
the President will have a second meeting with the Prime 
Minister on Thursday morning and there will be a formal 
White House dinner that evening. 

While he is in Washington, the Prime Minister 
will also meet with Secretaries Kissinger, Schlesinger, 
and Simon. 
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As we announced on Friday, just for your 
information, this visit will provide the President and 
the Prime Minister the opportunity to review the Middle 
East situation, following discussions here this summer 
with Israeli and Arab representatives, and to discuss 
further progress towards a Middle East peace settlement. 

They will also have the opportunity to discuss 
bilateral issues in the spirit of a long-standing, close 
relationship between the United States and Israel, and 
following the elements of cooperation announced in the 
joint statement issued in Jerusalem on June 17. 

At noon, the President will meet with his 
economic advisers to look at issues raised in the 
September 5 conference of economists and determine 
if any consensus was developed. 

They will also be discussing Secretary Simon's 
recent trip to Paris for the Finance Ministers' Meeting. 
Attending that meeting will be Counsellor Rush, SccPetary 
Simon, Director Ash, Chairman Greenspan, Chairman Burns, 
and Bill Seidman. 

We have one addition to today's schedule. At 
1:00 the President will see Congressman Rhodes to discuss 
legislative matters. 

Q When is that? 

MR. HUSHEN: 1:00. 

At 8:00 tomorrow morning, the President will 
meet with the Republican Congressional leadership to 
discuss what can be accomplished in the remaining weeks 
of this session of Congress. I would anticipate that the 
President will send a message to Congress on this subject. 
That should come sometime this week, but the time will 
depend on the discussion with the leaders tomorrow. 

Following that, the President will participate 
in the labor conference on inflation in the East Room. 

Q What time will that start? 

·MR. HUSHEN: It starts at 9:45. 

The President will be in the East Room for 
the morning session and then will host a lunch for the 
participants in the State dining room. The conference 
will run until 3:45. 
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As in the case of the economist's meeting, 
the media seating is limited, and there will only be 
one seat per organization allocated. 

Those of you who will not be going to Pinehurst 
tomorrow and wish to attend the conference, we ask that 
you make your desire known so we can assess our space 
needs. 

Print media requesting space should call 
Morrie Feibusch at 456-2976. Electronic media should 
call Bill Roberts at 456-2100. By the way, that conference 
will be carried live on Channel 26 from beginning to end. 

About 12:30 tomorrow, the President will 
depart the South Lawn en route to Andrews Air Force 
Base, Pope Air Force Base, and Pinehurst, North Carolina. 

In Pinehurst, the President will participate 
in dedication ceremonies for the World Golf Hall of Fame, 
Then he will play golf with some of those who are being 
inducted, and then attend an evening dinner at which he 
will have brief remarks. 

Q Who is he playing with? 

Q What time does he arrive at Pope? 

MR. HUSHEN: I don't have the names yet. 

Well, we will have a detailed schedule for 
you later today. It is a long day, and it has taken 
some time to get it together, but let me just give you 
this for your own guidance. 

The press bus departs from the southwest gate 
for Andrews at 10:45 A.M. Press check-in is 11:15. 
The press plane will depart at 11:45. It is a one-hour 
flight. 

I expect the President to return to Washington 
about midnight tomorrow, and the press plane will be in 
as soon thereaft~ as possible. 

Q 
have lunch? 

If he leaves at 12:30, what time does he 

HR.~SHEN: The lunch with the labo~ conference 
is at 11:45., 

Q Have you tried to find out who he will 
be paired with in the golf tournament? 
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MR. HUSHEN: That shouldn't be any problem. 

Q Jack, will the dinner that evening be 
open to coverage? 

MR. HUSHEN: I will know better later today 
when we get the schedule posted. 

On Thursday, the President will meet with the 
bipartisan Congressional leaders to discuss the Foreign 
Assistance Act and other foreign policy matters. That 
meeting will be at·.a:.ao. 

I just have a couple of other announcements, 
and you can have the release on both of them. The 
President is nominating the U.S. delegation to the Twenty­
Ninth Session of the United Nations Assembly which opens 
September 17. And he is nominating the u.s. delegation 
to the Eighteenth Session of the General Conference of 
the International Atomic Energy Agency. That session 
will be held from September 16 to 20 in Vienna. 

Q Are we going to get the nominations? 

MR. HUSHEN: You have the paper on it. 

MR. ROBERTS: They are not out yet. They are 
ready. 

MR. HwSHEN: I can give you the names now or 
hand the paper out as soon as we are done. 

Q When you are done is all right. 

MR. HUSHEN: Let ...me .. just make one announcement 
relating to the White House Staff. 

The President has asked me to announce his 
appointment of Warren Rustand as Appointments Secretary 
to the President and you should have a release on this. 
That is there, too, and will be out shortly. 

Q Jack, are you ready to answer questions? 

MR. HUSHEN: I guess I have to. 

Q Jack, in view of your announced interest 
in maintaining the policy of openness for the President, 
why did the White House attempt to keep Mr. terHorst's 
resignation buttoned up? And why was it not announced 
promptly on Sunday? 
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MR. HUSHEN: It was Jerry's wish to depart 
as quietly as possible. He knew that his decision was 
going to add to the controversy and he didn't want it to. 
That is basically the reason. 

Q What is your status now, Jack? 

MR. HUSHEN: As I told you yesterday, my status 
is the same today as it was two days ago. 

Q Jack, it has been traditional that when 
the Republican leaders met with the President that they 
come out and brief. Will they brief tomorrow morning? 

MR. HUSEHN: I don't know. 

Q Jack, relative to your statement that the 
person&anding in your place speaks for the President and 
not himself, have you been given any sort of assurance 
that you will know what the President's views on 
matters are,as your predecessor did not know, at least 
until the last minute on the pardon for Richard Nixon? 

MR. HUSHEN: I hope to be operating under 
basically the same assurances, the same accessibility to 
the President. As I said in my opening remarks, there 
are still some people who are somewhat new to their 
roles here and have not learned, I guess, the kind of 
relationship that the Press Secretary must have. 

Q Are you referring to Mr. Buchen? 

Q.:~~ .. ; .~Are~~·you planning a news conference? 

MR. HUSHEN: The President plans to maintain 
his accessibility to the news media. I don't want to 
say 

Q Jack, in view of all these questions, why doesn't 
the President just come out here himself and answer them 
now instead of sending you, who don't know, and Buchen, who 
possibly doesn't know about it? 

Has there been any discussion of this, of the 
President coming out and answering these questions and 
getting them out of the way immediately? 

MR. HUSHEN: I think Mr. Buchen will be able 
to answer most, if not all, of your questions. 
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Q Jack, in view of some of the pitfalls that 
Jerry did face, do you still maintain the White House has 
openness and candor, particularly in view of the queries 
that came into the White House last week regarding 
pardon that were sluffed off, and other questions where 
we were touted in the wrong direction? 

Do you still maintain you have openness and 
candor? 

MR. HUSHEN: I do. 

Q Well, how can you? 

MR. HUSHEN: It may be difficult for you to 
see it, but I certainly do from this side, and I would 
hope that those of you who saw how Jerry operated for 
the past month would tend to agree with that. 

Q He had to resign to make the point, 
apparently. 

MR. HUSEHN: Oh, no. His resignation was not 
because of anyone intentionally or unintentionally mis­
leading him. 

Q Jack, does the President still intend 
to hold a press conference this week as Jerry told 
us last week he would probably? 

MR. HUSHEN: I would say probably not, but I 
would say probably shortly. 

Q Has the President indicated to you that 
you will be the Press Secretary? 

MR. HUSHEN: No. 

Q Have you talked to him on the subject of 
your future since terHorst has left, Jack? 

MR. HUSHEN: On the way to Pittsburgh yesterday 
morning, I said this is obviously going to be a question 
which will come up. And he said you will continue to act 
as the Deputy Press Secretary. And obviously that makes 
you, in effect, the Acting Press Secretary. 

But the title, for any of those who are trying 
to describe me, the title should be the Deputy Press 
Secretary. 
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Q Jack~ when you say there are some people 
in the White House who don't yet understand the relation­
ship which has to exist between the President and the 
Press Secretary. Would you include Mr. Buchen? 

MR. HUSHEN: Well, I don't want to get into 
naming some names and omitting others. (Laughter) 

Q Is it a large group or many? 

MR. HUSHEN: No~ it isn't a large group. They 
have to understand --

Q Does the President understand? 

MR. HUSHEN: I believe he does. They have to 
understand -- the senior people in the White House who 
know the things that are moving through the White House, 
have to understand that it does not serve the President 
to have a Press Secretary standing out here who doesn't 
know what is going on and, therefor•e, may unintentionally 
mislead people. 

Q Can you tell us why terHorst was lied to 
and who lied to him? 

MR. HUSEHN: Well, I think "lied" is a very 
strong word. 

Q 
but misled. 

Well, misled. He used the word "lied", 

MR. HUSHEN: Jerry did? I don't think he did. 

Q Use whatever description you want to. Why was 
the news was kept from him at the time when he asked 
questions about it, why and who? 

MR. HUSHEN: Well, let's just save that question 
until Mr. Buchen has completed his briefing. 

Q Are you going to be back? 

MR. HUSHEN: If you are not satisfied, I will 
be happy to take your questions. 

Q How about amnesty? When is the President 
going to make a decision? 

MR. HUSHEN: As·¥ou know, I mentioned the meeting 
last night. There was another meeting this morning. 
Many of the complexities that I spoke about yesterday 
are being ironed out. I don't want to get into a firm 
figure, but certainly no later than the end of the month. 
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Q Jack, there has been some speculation 
that discussions on conditional amnesty will now get 
broader, perhaps talk about more liberalized conditional 
amnesty as a result of the pardon. Is that possible? 
Is that under discussion? 

MR. HUSHEN: I wouldn't speculate along those 
lines. 

Q Jack, I wanted to ask this question, 
when I asked 

MR. HUSHEN: I think Phil Jones had the floor. 

Q We didn't hear the question. 

MR. HUSHEN: The question was will there be now 
possibly broader amnesty, more liberalized, as a result 
of the pardon for the former President. I suggested 
that he not speculate along those lines until they see 
what the program is going to be. 

Q Jack, have you a newer count now, maybe 
more recent than your count on the planecoming bac~ as 
to the number of telephone calls received by the White 
House on the pardon and how they are running and, if you 
have anything on a count on mail or telegrams, if there 
has been time for that? 

MR. HUSHEN: We have not been able to tabulate 
the mail yet. I don't mean to indicate that it is flooding 
through the doors at the rate that it doesn't allow 
tabulation, but that is generally further behind. 

Telegrams and mailgrams, as of 11:00 this morning, 
were about six-to-one on the basis of about 16,000. 

Q Six-to-one? 

MR. HUSHEN: Against the pardon. For those of 
you who are interested, I am told by the man who handles 
this program that there are at least several other examples 
in which the telegrams far outweighed this, such as the 
Saturday Night Massacre, President Nixon's decision to 
review the Calley conviction, the Cambodian incursion, 
and even the Amchitka nuclear explosion. 

Q In the same amount of time, Jack? 

Q You mean in total numbers,or larger? 
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MR. HUSHEN: Larger, much larger from the point 
of telegrams -- those four examples. So they do not 
describe that as anywhere near the level of those. 

Q Would you call this a mini-massacre, 
Jack? 

MR. HUSHEN: Let me just add the final one. 
As of midnight last night, the tally on the telephones has 
changed around, I think rather significantly. 

Those supporting the President's decision 
were more than 5,700; those in opposition, 3,900. 

Q Was anything done to stimulate telephone 
calls? 

MR. HUSHEN: Absolutely nothing. 

Q Jack, you said there were 16,000 telegrams. 
One of the wire services carried a story yesterday saying 
there was 20,000 on Sunday alone. Was that a bad figure? 

MR. HUSHEN: Well, I don't think we got 20,000 
alone on Sunday. I will have to check that. I know there 
are some that have not been tallied yet. 

Q 16,000total; is that your figure? 

MR. HUSHEN: These are the number tallied as 
of 11:00 A.M.,.Tuesday. 

Q Are they all in? Have all those that have 
been received been tallied? 

Q Jack, do you have something for us now in 
the light of these figures and in the light of the many 
statements on the Hill by Congressmen on both sides of 
the issue and other obvious signs of controversy over 
this thing? Do you have for us at the present time the 
President's reaction to all this? 

For instance, there have been stories saying he 
was somewhat shocked by the volume or the amount of protest. 
Is that the case? What is his present reaction now to 
this flap? 

MR. HUSHEN: I certainly wouldn't describe the 
President as being surprised by this. He knew that this 
was going to be a controversial decision. He still thinks 
it is the right decision and he is firmly convinced that 
he will be proven right in the long run. 
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Q Jack, I wanted to ask this question: 
When I asked how the President's $850,000 request 
for Nixon could be reconciled to his plea for Americans 
to fight inflation, I recall that Jerry terHorst replied 
that he understood that this was in line with what was 
provided to other former Presidents. You may remember 
that. 

Now, when I phoned the Press Office to ask 
how Jerry had been led to this understanding, I was 

·referred to two Nixon holdovers, Mr. Carlson and 
Mr. Bowter of GSA, who maintained the same thing. 

My question is this: How can Administration 
spokesmen give out this information when this morning 
Senator Montoya's office received a second set of figures 
from GSA of the computed total of everything paid to 
Lyndon Johnson which, during the five years 1969 to 1973, 
amounted to only $266,000 more than Ford is asking for 
Nixon in one year? Can you explain this? 

MR. HUSHEN: It sounds like we are going to have 
to check on it. 

Q Would you, and let us know? 

MR. HUSHEN: Yes. 

Q Second, is the President going to pardon 
or ask for any pension for Mr. Agnew, or hasn't the 
Agnew family sufferendEnough? 

I mean that is a high office, too. 

MR.HJSHEN: I can't give you any response on that. 

Q Jack, can you tell us what Rabbi Korff 
was doing here today and who he saw? 

MR. HUSHEN: Somebody said Rabbi Korff 
was here today and who he saw. I didn't know he was here. 

Q Could you check that please? 

Q He was; he saw me. 

MR. HUSHEN: Does that satisfy you? (Laughter) 
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Q He claims that he never said, as he was 
quoted in two daily newspapers, that he never said Father 
Drinan was to be compar~d to Rasputin. 

Q Mrs. Dean is now talking about a pardon for 
John Dean; what is the President's feeling f'.bout pardoi) for 
any of the other people involved in the whole.Watergate 
thing? 

MR. HUSHEN: I am authorized to say that that 
entire matter is now under study. 

Q You mean for all the Watergate 

Q Jack, will you expand on that? 

Q Can you give us a little more on that? 

MR. HUSHEN: No. 

Q Is that a reversal of your former statements? 

Q Will Mr. Buchen be able to give us something 
on that? 

MR. HUSHEN: He may. 

Q When we asked Mr. Buchen the other day 
whether pardons were under consideration, first, for the 
defendants in the September 30th trial and, later, for Mr. 
Dean and others who are actually serving prison sentences, 
he said in words to the effect the President had not given 
that any thought whatsoever, and now, you are saying the 
matter is under study. tf.hat has changed, and what has 
happened that caused a change? 

MR. HUSHEN: I think we will have to stand where 
we are for the time being. 

Q Can we get the question of Hr. Shabecoff a 
moment ago? 

MR. HUSHEN: That was Mr. Lord's question. 

Q No, following that, Mr. Shabecoff's question. 

MR. HUSHEN: I didn't hear that. 

Q I asked would Mr. Buchen be able to give us 
that. 

Q I want to ask, is it across-the-board, Mr. 
Dean, or all the Watergate defendants and also those who 
have served or are currently in jail, everybody? 
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Q Just a minute Jack, excuse me. If you 
nod and we are writing, we can't hear your answer, and 
it also is not on the record. I am sorry, I didn't hear 
your answer. 

MR. HUSHEN: Restate the question. 

Q Mrs. Dean has talked about a pardon for 
her husband; is the President considering, at this time, 
pardons for Mr. Dean and any or all of the other Watergate 
defendants, people involved in the whole Watergate matter? 

MR. HUSHEN: I will restate,that matter is under 
study. 

Q Jack, when would you expect a decision? 

MR. HUSHEN: I can give you no further guidance 
at this time. 

Q Can you tell us when this determination 
was made to put it under study? 

MR. HUSHEN: No. 

Q The President, in his Senate confirmation 
hearings, led the Senate Rules Committee to believe that 
he would not consider pardoning the President because he 
thought the American people would not stand for it. 

He has now pardoned the President. Does the 
President believe he would have been confirmed if he had 
told the Senate Committee he would pardon Mr. Nixon? 

MR. HUSHEN: That is a question you will have 
to address to the President. All I can say --

Q I will be happy to. 

MR. HUSHEN: You may get the chance. All I can say 
is, those of you who have reread his statement on Sunday, 
hypothetical questions don't seem to take on the same aspect 
as they do when you are sitting in the Oval Office. 

. Q Did the President personally authorize you 
to make that statement, or did some other official in the 
White House? 

Q Which statement? 

Q The statement about the entire matter being 
under study about pardoning? 
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Q You said you speak as Presidential spokesman. 

MR. HUSHEN: The President authorized me to 
make that. 

Q Jack, does not a statement like that, at this 
time, short circuit the trial that is scheduled for the 
other Watergate defendants that is supposed to begin on 
September 30th? Can that trial go on if the President 
has under study pardon for all of those defendants in the 
trial? 

MR. HUSHEN: I believe it can. 

Q What was your answer? 

MR. HUSHEN: The answer was yes. 

Q Has that point been discussed with the 
President or by the President? 

MR. HUSHEN: I can't respond to that; I don't know 
the answer to that. 

Q Doesn't it include the whole -- all those who 
are facing trial? 

MR. HUSHEN: Yes. 

Q Jack, is there under study, under con-
sideration, or has a decision been made on any way to 
get the entire Watergate story on the record -- some sort 
of Warren Commission on Watergate to study the matter and 
what really happened? 

MR. HUSHEN: I am not aware of it. 

Q Jack, have you had any further disaussions 
with the President so that you could tell us what caused 
him to bring up the question of pardon on the 30th, and 
specifically, to what extent he was influenced by reports 
that Mr. Nixon was in bad shape, physically and mentally? 

MR. HUSHEN: I have talked about this with the 
President. 

Q Question, please, Jack? 

MR. HUSHEN: I guess basically the health issue. 
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Q The question is; have you talked with the 
President, and can you tell us to what extent he was 
influenced by reports of former President Nixon's mental 
condition? 

MR. HUSHEN: Well, I cannot, obviously, put 
myself into the President's thinking processes to know 
what influenced him. I think his statement about 
"threatening the former President's health" is getting 
undue attention, because it was not in the advance text. 
But I think a reasonable man could conclude th~t when 
serious allegations -- as you may find out more about 
today -- are hanging over the former President's head, it 
could threaten his health. I think that is all the 
President said. 

Q Excuse me, may I follow that up, Jack. The 
question is, had the President told you so you could tell 
us whether he was influenced or impressed by reports of 
health problems involving Mr. Nixon, and where did those 
reports come from? Jack, is there anymore you can say 
on that? 

MR. HUSHEN: I really can't go much beyond that. 

Q Can you say whether health was a prime 
influence, or the major influence that made the President 
change his mind? 

MR. HUSHEN: No. 

Q What was? 

MR. HUSHEN: I can't say because I don't know 
what his thought processes are on the matter. 

Q 
on Friday? 

Did the President meet with Walter Tkach 
Did the President see ~7alter ~ach on Friday? 

MR. HUSHEN: He did not, and I will just try to 
set that to rest as best I can. 

Q Question? 

MR. HUSHEN: "Did the President see Dr. Tkach on 
Friday when he was here?" 

·It is my understanding Dr. Tkach has been on leave 
for about the past three weeks. He is getting a new 
assignment by the Air Force and was in the buildi~g 
merely to clean up some last minute details. 
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Q Did he see the President while he was cleaning 
up those last minute details? 

MR. HUSHEN: I prefaced that by saying no; I guess 
you didn't hear that. 

Q 
on Friday? 

Did he see anyone else on a policy level 

MR. HUSHEN: No. In fact, he did talk to Dr. 
Lukash. But as I said, Dr. Lukash told me that Dr. Tkach 
had not seen the former President recently, but the 
reports were not negative, or not unfavorable as far as 
the health of the former President was concerned. 

Q Jack, you said something here that got by 
me here, and I think it sounds very significant to me. You 
said something to the effect that President's don't take 
the same position in the Oval Office as they do during 
the hearings, is that correct? And if it is correct, why 
should we hold hearings, and how can we believe a man 
that is a nominee? 

MR. HUSHEN: t4hat I said was that the hypothetical 
questions that come to you as a nominee look a lot dif­
ferent when they come to you as the President, and you 
may respond to a hypothetical question in a different way 
than you would when you are confronted with the actual 
situation. 

Q Jack, is this study of possible amnesty 
for other Watergate defendants such a study, or con­
sideration, that it will result in a decision to be 
announced by the White House? 

MR. HUSHEN: I can't go into any details on that 
at all. 

Q Jack, does this study apply only to those 
who have already been convicted or pled guilty? 

MR. HUSHEN: I can't go into any details on 
that at all. All I can say is that it is under study, 
period. 

Q Why is that question under study more 
urgent than the question of amnesty or leniency, which 
Jerry terHorst said there would be no grass growing under 
that decision? 

MR. HUSHEN: You are talking about the announce­
ment of the conditional amnesty program? 
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Q Yes. 

MR. HUSHEN: The grass isn't growing under the 
program. What has happened is that, as we got into it, 
we found it was much more complex than we had thought. 
The ramifications of that were greater than we thought, 
and these things had to be ironed out. And as I said 
yesterday, the President personally wants to make sure that 
this has his stamp of approval on it. 

His attention has been focused elsewhere for awhile, 
and I think the fact that there was a very lengthy meeting 
last night and another one this morning and my attempts 
to clarify, or to get away from the indefinite postponement 
which was misinterpreted, indicates we are moving. 

Q How long did the meeting last this morning? 

MR. HUSHEN: I don't know. 

Q Jack, can you give us some guidance on when we 
can expect some word on this study that is now in progress, 
and will it come from the President? 

MR. HUSHEN: No. 

Q Can you tell us who is conducting the 
study? 

MR. HUSHEN: I cannot tell you. 

Q Can I clarify; this means anybody who has 
already been convicted in connection with the Watergate 
or anybody facing trial, is that right? 

Q All persons connected with Watergate, 
involved in Watergate? 

MR. HUSHEN: That is correct. 

Q Does that mean that he is in fact con-
sidering pardons for all of these people, or is he just 
reviewing it? 

MR. HUSHEN: The question of pardons is under 
study. 

Q Who is doing the studying? 

MR. HUSHEN: I cannot say. 

Q Did the consideration for the pardons for all 
those in Watergate begin simultaneously with, or subsequent 
to the pardon for Mr. Nixon? 
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MR. HUSHEN: I cannot say, I don't know that. 

Q Jack, if it began before the pardon for 
Mr. Nixon, why did Mr. Buchen tell us it was not under 
consideration? 

MR. HUSHEN: I am not saying it did begin before. 

Q All right, then it began after, right? 

MR. HUSHEN: I am not saying it began after. 

Q Jack,is a study being made of amnesty for 
other persons indicted or convicted for burglary, 
obstruction of justice, of conspiracy and other crimes, 
not perjury, not connected with Watergate? 

I am sorry I'm not smiling; this is a serious 
question. 

Q Yes, is there a general study of pardons? 
I would like the answer, too. 

Q So would I. 

MR. HUSHEN: Well, I think the answer to that is 
no. 

Q Jack, can you tell us if he is contemplating 
the pardoning of a man like Colson, how can he keep anyone 
else in Allenwood? 

(Laughter.) 

MR. HUSHEN: Your questions sounds like it is 
being asked after the fact. The only thing I said here 
was that there was a study now under way, and anybody 
that goes beyond that and says that we are about to do 
something would be misleading the American public. 

Q You are not saying Mrs. Dean's letter 
prompted the inquiry, are you? 

MR. HUSHEN: No, I am not. 

Q Okay, it started before the letter? 

Q Did a request from any Watergate defendant 
prompt the study? 

MR. HUSHEN: I don't know of any. I don't know 
of any request except for the one I heard about on the 
radio this morning from Mrs. Dean. 
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Q Jack, can you say why the President is now 
authorizing you to say this? 

MR. HUSHEN: No. 

Q Did the reaction to the pardon for the former 
President prompt the review or the study of pardons for the 
others? 

MR. HUSHEN: I cannot answer that. 

Q 
to say this? 

Jack, when did the President authorize you 

MR. HUSHEN: In our meeting this morning before I 
came out here. 

Q Jack are you aware of the impact of what 
you have just said is going to have on the American people, 
and particularly when you stand mute when we ask you 
other questions about this study about who authorized it and 
who is making it? Is the l~hite House aware of the impact 
this is going to have? 

MR. HUSHEN: Well, I think those factors are 
taken into consideration, but again, Peter, let me caution 
you, all I said was, there is a study. Don't try to 
predict the results of the study. 

Q But the fact that you make a statement 
from the White House podium that there.is a stud"y under 
way is of great significance, Jack, and my question is, 
are you aware of the significance of it. You don't have 
to answer that question. The President has chosen to 
authorize you to say that this is under study. That is 
not an insignificant statement. 

MR. HUSHEN: I understand that. 

Q t~en we are through here, can we break this off 
and file and then have the Buchen briefing? 

Q Like 15 minutes from now? 

Q Yes, we need some time, Jack. 

MR. HUSHEN: All right, why don't you break it 
off? 

THE PRESS: Thank you. 

END (AT 12:32 P.M. EDT) 
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THE WHITE HOUSE 

STATEMENT BY THE PRESIDENT 

The an11ouncement yesterday by Mr. Hushen concerning study of the entire 
matter of Preside11tial clemency and pardons was prompted by i11quiries to 
the White House Press Office concerning Mrs. Joh11 Dean's reported stateme11t 
in reference to pardoning of her husband and similar public statements on 
behalf of others. 

Such a study is, of course, made for any request concerning pardon of an 
individual. 

However, no inference should be drawn as to the outcome of such study in 
any case. Nor is my pardon of the former President, under the unique 
circumstances stated by me ill granting it, related to any other case which 
is or may be under study. 

* * * 
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MR. HUSHEN: Good morning. 

We just have one brief announcement before we 
go to the briefing. 

The Conference on Inflation began about ten 
minutes ago over in the East Room. Those of you who 
wish to remain here for this briefing will be taken over 
to the East Room following this session. 

Now to the matter at hand. 

The President had his first meeting with the 
Republican leadership this morning. It ran about an hour 
and three quarters. The President said he hoped to 
continue these on a regular basis. 

We have the minority leader of the Senate, 
Senator Scott, and the minority leader of the House, 
Representative Rhodes, here to detail what happened this 
morning. 

Mr. Rhodes will go first. 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: Good morning, ladies and 
gentlemen. 

The meeting, as Mr. Hushen said, took about an 
hour and 45 minutes. Mr. Seidman first explained the 
pre-summit conferences, which are to take place around the 
country, and there was some discussion concerning the 
summit conference itself. 

Mr. Ash then reported the fact that there will 
be some requests forwarded to the House and Senate under 
the Budget Control Act for deferrals and certain rescissions. 
As I think you know, the deferrals will be effective 
unless one House of the Congress takes affirmative action. 
The rescissions will not be effective unless both Houses of 
Congress take affirmative action within 45 days. 
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So, these are requests for both deferrals and 
rescissions,one requiring action, the other requiring 
inaction. 

Also, it was discussed that the President has 
requested that the pay increase for Federal employees be 
deferred for three months. The fact that it would save 
some $700 million in this fiscal year was set forth and, 
of course, the reason for the discussion was requesting 
that the leadership give its attention to sustaining the 
President's request on this. 

It is a very important anti-inflation move. In 
fact, it probably will be the first test of the President's 
anti-inflation program, which the Congress may be called 
upon to vote. 

Then, of course, there was some discussion 
concerning a message which the Congress will receive from 
the President, possibly tomorrow, and possibly next week, 
concerning legislative requests for the balance of this 
Congress. 

The President expressed his hope that the Congress 
could adjourn sine die on or about October 15, but this is 
a list of actions which he hopes sincerely the Congress 
will take prior to any adjournment sine die. 

As Senator Scott mentions, obviously, there are 
some priorities which are indicated in the message. In 
other words, the requests are not just thrown in hodge­
podge, there is some shading of demand insofar as action 
is concerned. 

Now, Senator Scott has an announcement to make. 

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, ladies and gentlemen, what 
struck me most, I think, in the meeting with the 
President this morning was his opening statement that these 
will continue on a regular basis and that the party's 
leadership will be consulted for its recommendations prior 
to the making of important decisions, such as we discussed 
this morning. 

The President has a statement bearing on some of 
yesterday's comments. This is the statement: "The 
announcement yesterday by Mr. Hushen concerning study of 
the entire matter of Presidental clemency and pardons 
was prompted by inquiries to the White House Press Office 
concerning Mrs. John Dean's reported statement in reference 
to pardoning of her husband and similar public statements 
on behalf of others. 

"Such a study is, of course, made for any request 
concerning pardon of an individual. However, no inference 
should be drawn as to the outcome of such study in any 
case, nor is my pardon of the former President, under the 
unique circumstances stated by me in granting it, related 
to any other case which is or may be under study." 
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Further, yesterday at about 12:15, I spoke to 
the Special Prosecutor, Mr. Jaworski, assured him of my 
interest in full disclosure and of my full support of him 

Q Are you speaking for yourself? 

SENATOR SCOTT: Yes, I am speaking for myself. 
I ended the President's statement. I spoke to Mr. Jaworski 
at 12:15 yesterday and made it clear that I supported 
him fully, and I urged that any correspondence which could 
legitimately and properly be released, that that be done, 
having in mind the memorandum from Mr. Ruth to Mr. Jaworski 
regarding the ten areas of alleged involvement of the 
former President. 

He told me that he had come to the conclusion 
that this should be released, and was so advising the '·•7hi te 
House. I understand it has been released. 

I call your attention to the final paragraph 
again although you have had it all -- referring to these 
ten matters. 

"None of these matters at the moment rises to 
the level of our ability to prove even a probable criminal 
violation by Mr. Nixon, but I thought you ought to know 
which of the pending investigations were even remotely 
connected to Mr. Nixon. Of course, the Watergate cover-up 
is the subject of a separate memorandum." 

As to that, you know that any conversations or 
correspondence of Mr. Jaworski are under the restriction, 
the broad, general restriction -- not referring to any 
special letter -- of Judge Sirica's order, which does 
affect the possibility of any such release at this time. 

You also know from Mr. Buchen's statement to you 
yesterday that they, the defendants, will be called 
to trial, unlike Richard M. Nixon, if indicted without any 
previous adverse finding by an investigatory body holding 
public hearings on its conclusions. 

The statement of the letter from Mr. Miller on 
behalf of Mr. Nixon referring on page 13 to the destruction 
of an environment for trial consistent with due process has 
been nationwide. 

The President has repeated his judgment, his 
statement of his judgment that what he has done is 
right. He believes it will be seen to be right in the 
longrun. I think we all admit that it is controversial. 

Now we will both be glad to answer questions. 
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Q Why did you call Jaworski to spring that 
memorandum? I mean, why did you interfere? 

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, Helen, I don't know that 
it is interfering. I am one of the eight leaders involved 
in the consensus who had consistently assured him that 
if he had any troubles, we would back up his independence. 

Q You felt he had troubles? 

SENATOR SCOTT: If he had ~ny problems. And he 
has been to see us, waited on the Judiciary Committee 
once, and we affirmed our belief and our satisfaction that 
he should be protected, his independence. 

And so, I had said in Congress the night 
before that I thought all of this material should be 
released. It was part of a broad statement that I 
made favoring full disclosure of everything not affected 
by national defense and not affecting the rights of 
defendants. 

I heard there was concern about that, and I 
thought I owed it to Mr. Jaworski to initiate a call to 
him, which I did, to assure him that I would in no way 
interfere,with the rights of defendants, and he assured 
me that he appreciated my continued support. 

Q You are referring to the document that was 
released here? 

SENATOR SCOTT: The September 3 memorandum from 
Mr. Ruth to Mr. Jaworski. 

Q Did you express to the President your concern 
that you all were not consulted prior to his decision on 
the pardon for Mr. Nixon? 

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, the President did reach 
a very substantial number of people -- I can't say who all 
of them were -- prior to announcing his decision. I was 
one of them. 

In this case, I think the President arrived at 
his decision on his own and on his sole determination. 
It was the kind of decision which could not be .discussed 
until after the agreement had been reached late Saturday 
night. Early Sunday morning he called me and I knew that 
he was trying to reach Congressman Rhodes, who was enjoying 
himself more than I was that morning. 

Q That wasn't to consult you, it was to tell 
you. 

SENATOR SCOTT: In this case it had to be, as I 
view it, to tell us. 
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Q Why? 

SENATOR SCOTT: Because the agreement had been 
made in a firm form involving representatives of the former 
President and of this President. They had arrived at a 
decision which could not have been arrived at by a 
committee of the leadership. 

Therefore, the decision was the President's alone 
and what, as I see it, the President did with regard to 
the material, on which he had an opinion from the Attorney 
General, is solely the property of a President, and these 
precedents go back to George Washington, so that 
instead of granting to Richard .Nixon privileges, or advantages 
which he would not have held otherwise, he actually insisted 
on restrictions so he reduced the right of the former 
President by agreements rather than enlarging it. 

Q Senator, or Congressman, did the President 
give you any reasons this morning, other than the ones 
that have been stated, about why he did this, and did he 
mention anything about the former President's health or 
that he had talked to any member of the former President's 
family about that? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: The answer to the latter 
is in the negative. Nothing was said about the former 
President's health and nothing was said about any contact 
with any member of the President's family. 

Q So that means that Julie Eisehnower did 
not call the President or make any plea on his behalf? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: It means, Helen, nothing 
was said in this meeting about that, and I 

Q So you can't really say 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: -- know nothing about it 
because the question did not arise. 

Q So the health question did not come up 
at all? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: Nobody mentioned the 
health 

Q Did Julie Eisenhower appeal to either of 
you gentlemen? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: No, sir, not to me. 

SENATOR SCOTT: Not to me. The President made a 
general statement in which he said there were various 
ramifications to my decision. You can read anything you 
want into that. He did not elaborate it. 
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Q The President seems to be rolling back this 
morning from these mass pardons, and he also seems to be 
apologizing to you for not consulting. In your 
emphasis on consultation today for more important 
decisions, and also this statement, he appears very 
worried about the reaction to blanket pardons. Is that a 
fair analysis? 

SENATOR SCOTT: I won't agree, Helen. In the 
first place, he volunteered the statements of prior 
consultation. It certainly had no bearing in my mind on 
his decision, which is one of those unique decisions which, 
if I were President, I would certainly have taken the 
responsibility for making alone. I would never have 
submitted it to a committee. 

I don't think this statement is for any purpose 
except to make clear that applications for pardon have not 
reached the President's desk. When they are, they will 
receive such consideration as they are certainly fairly 
entitled to receive, and that he is trying to clear up, 
in effect, that that is when the study would be necessitated 
rather than take general study. 

Q There is no study now? 

SENATOR SCOTT: Not that I know of, and I think 
there are none. 

Q What is going on on that score? I mean, 
we were told yesterday that the study is underway, or there 
is a study. What do you understand the situation to be? 

SENATOR SCOTT: I would like to have John comment. 
What I understand the situation to be is that if, as, and 
when the President receives any request for action by him 
having to do with his Executive powers under Article II, 
Section 2, he will react by considering it and considering 
it most carefully. That is my view of it. 

Is that right, John? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: I think that is precisely 
correct. Of course, the Constitution leaves the matter of 
pardon-completely in the hands of the Executive. It 
isn't a matter of whether there is any Congressional review, 
so his nonconsultation with Members of the House and 
Senate is perfectly understandable. 

It is true, as the Senator said, there is 
no study going on, nor does there need to be. The power 
the President has to either pardon or not pardon is very 
clear under the Constitution, and I think what the 
President is saying here is that if he receives in due 
course and in due form requests for consideration for a 
pardon from any of these people in this rather large class, 
that they will not be thrown in the wastebasket, that they 
will be considered on their merits, each of them. 

MORE 



-
- 7 -

Q Under those circumstances, why do you 
suppose a one sentence statement of that nature was made 
yesterday which created so much unnecessary turmoil in 
the light of what you are saying now? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: Of course, I wasn't here 
yesterday, and I have no means of replying to the 
question. All I am saying is that my understanding is as 
Senator Scott and I have stated. 

Q May I ask you another question, while I 
have both of your attentions. Did the President make 
a mistake by pardoning the former President at this 
juncture? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: In my opinion, the answer 
to that is definitely no. I think that President Ford 
acted at a proper time and for proper reasons, and I 
completely support his decision to act as he did. 

Q Why? 

Q Mr. Rhodes, or Senator Scott, did you either 
ask --

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: There was a follow-up 
question here. The lady asked why I support the decision. 
I support the decision, Miss Thomas, because in my opinion, 
continuing the Watergate matter is not in the best 
interest of the country. The trying of a President of the 
United States would be to reopen the whole matter. 

There is considerable doubt in my mind and doubt 
in the minds of most people who have considered it that 
President Nixon could get a fair trial anywhere in the United 
States because of the publicity of Watergate, and all in 
all it seemed to me to 1be a very good decision to make. 
Since the decision had to be made at some time anyway, it 
seemed proper to make it before the matter had gone any 
further. 

Q Do either of you have any information on 
former President Nixon's health that we don't know about? 

CONGRESSMAN RHODES: Speaking for myself, the 
answer is in the negative. I have no information from 
Mr. Nixon or any member of his family as to his health. 

Q I don't think Senator Scott answered my 
question. 

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, I did hope to avoid it. 
(Laughter) 
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The answer is that I agree with Congressman 
Rhodes. I indicated to the President when he called me 
that I knew it would be controversial. I knew that it 
would create much discussion, that I thought that if it 
were going to be done, if t'were done, t'were well t'were 
done quickly, if I could borrow from Sam Shaffer's 
version of Shakespeare. (Laughter) 

It is a tragic thing. My mail is running at 
the moment veny heavily critical, no question of that. 
I detect, however, that they are my ancient and honorable 
critics of the past, and they are indeed repetitive here. 

I believe that had the President delayed, the 
country would have divided into two factions -- pro lenity 
or pro leniency, and against. It would have been highly 
divisive. I think the trial would have taken at least a 
year or a year and a half to get started. There could 
have been trials on at least ten areas where the Special 
Prosecutor admits there is insufficient evidence; for 
example, that the trials could have occurred, there could 
have been tria~s on the cover-up, the appeals could take 
from three to five years, as we know, and the country 
during this time would have been engaged in a riotous 
controversy. 

Quoting the New York Times, quoting Sophocles, 
there is a statement that even justice is sometimes , 
unjust, and the President has been deprived of his 
office, deprived of his profession, deprived of a large 
part of his means and, therefore, has been severely 
punished. 

I realize there is discrimination, but I make 
the distinction. 

Q Do you think he should not have been 
deprived of his office? 

Q He resigned, Senator. He resigned his 
office, he resigned the bar. 

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, if you are going to fence 
with me, he resigned because the evidence brought him 
to that conclusion. 

Q He resigned because he thought he would be 
put out. 

SENATOR SCOTT: Well, I am not going to argue 
with you, but we all know the facts. He resigned under 
circumstances which have been more widely publicized than 
anything, even including the battle of Gettysburg. 
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Q Senator Scott and Congressman Rhodes, do 
you think the confusion that has existed this week, the 
past couple of days, especially, has in any way prejudiced 
the forthcoming Watergate trials, and do you think the 
President erred by not letting Special Prosecutor Jaworski 
know of his plans to consider these pardons in whatever 
form he will be considering them? 

SENATOR SCOTT: I think Prosecutor Jaworski and 
the President both must make their own judgments as to what 
is proper to do. I find no fault with either one of 
them. Whether the rights of defendants have been 
prejudiced is a matter for Judge Sirica to rule upon, and 
if necessary for the circuit courts to rule upon, and I 
will abide by the decision of the courts, Tom, as always. 

Q Did the President say to the leadership this 
morning whether he had or had not authorized Mr. Hushen 
to make the statement that he made yesterday? 

SENATOR SCOTT: The President simply said, I 
have a statement which I would hope that one of you would 
read, and then he indicated to us what it was. Beyond 
that, he did go on. 

Another matter. The Rules Committee is meeting 
this morning, and I have to leave because we will determine 
today when we open hearings on the confirmation of the Vice 
President-designate. I hope we can do that next Monday 

-and begin with the statements of the two New York Senators 
and the opening statement by Vice President-designate 
Rockefeller. 

Q Just so we can get the background on this, 
is the President disturbed at the stories that came out 
yesterday saying that he was considering the matter? 

SENATOR SCOTT: Helen, I am pretty good at 
reading people's facial expressions, and I saw nothing 
that indicated that pro or con, and he said nothing to 
indicate it. 

END (AT 10:17 A.M. EDT) 
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THE PRESIDENT: Please sit down. 

Ladies and gentlemen, this press conference is 
being held at a time when many Americans are observing the 
Jewish religious new year. It begins a period of self­
examination and reconciliation. In opening this press 
conference, I am mindful that the spirit of this bolf day 
has a meaning for all Americans. 

In examining one's deeds of the last year and 
in assuming responsibility for past actions and personal 
decisions, one can reach a point of growth and change. The 
purpose of looking back is to go forward with a new and 
enlightened dedication to our highest values. 

The record of the past year does not have to 
be endlessly relived, but can be transformed by commitment 
to new insights and new actions in the year to come. 

Ladies and gentlemen, I am ready for your 
questions. 

Mr. Cormier. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, some Congressional 
Republicans who have talked to you have hinted that you 
may have had a secret reason for granting President Nixon 
a pardon sooner than you indicated you would at the last 
news conference, and I wonder if you could tell us what 
that reason was. 

THE PRESIDENT: At the outset, let me say I 
had no secret reason, and I don't recall telling any 
Republican that I had such a reason. Let me review quickly, 
if I might, the things that transpired following the last 
news conference. 
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As many of you know, I answered two, maybe 
three questions concerning a pardon at that time. On 
return to the office, I felt that I had to have my counsel 
undertake a thorough examination as to what my right of 
pardon was under the Constitution. I also felt that 
it was very important that I find out what legal actions, 
if any, were contemplated by the ~ecial Prosecutor. 

That information was found out, and it was 
indicated to me that the possibility exists, the very 
real possibility that the President would be char~ed with 
obstructing justice and ten other possible criminal 
actions. 

In addition, I asked my general counsel to 
find out,if he could, how long such criminal proceedings 
would take, from the indictment, the carrying on of the 
trial, et cetera, and I was informed that this would 
take a year, maybe somewhat longer, for the whole process 
to cso through. 

I also asked my counsel to find out whether 
or not under decisions of the judicial system a fair 
trial would be given to the former President. 

After I got that information, which took two 
or three days, I then began to evaluate, in my own mind, 
whether or not I should take the action, which I 
subsequently did. 

Miss Thomas. 
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QUESTION: Throughout your Vice Presidency, 
you said that you didn't believe that former President 
Nixon had ever committed an impeachable offense. Is 
that still your belief or do you believe that his 
acceptance of a pardon implies his guilt, or is an 
admission of guilt? 

THE PRESIDENT: The fact that 38 members of 
the House· Committee on the Judiciary, Democrat and 
Republican, have unanimously agreed in the report that 
was filed that the former President was guilty of an 
impeachable offense, I think is very persuasive 
evidence. 

And the second_question, I don't recall 

QUESTION: An admission of guilt? 

THE PRESIDENT: Was the acceptance of the 
pardon by the President an admission of guilt? The 
acceptance of a pardon, I think, can be construed by 
many, if not all, as an admission of guilt. 

Yes, Mr. Nessen. 

QUESTION: What reports have you received on 
Mr. Nixon's health, and what effect, if any, did this 
have on your decision to pardon him now? 

THE PRESIDENT: I have asked Dr. Lukash, '1'.-tho 
is the head physician in the White House,to keep me 
posted in proper channels as to the former President's 
health. I have been informed on a routine day-to-day 
basis, but I don't think I am at liberty to give any 
information as to those reports that I have received. 

You also asked \-that impact did the President's 
health have on my decision. I think it is well knot-m 
that just before I gave my statement at the time that 
I gave the pardon I personally wrote in a phrase "the 
threat to the President's health." 

The main concern that I had at the time I made 
the decision was to heal the wounds throughout the 
United States. For a period of 18 months or longer, we 
had had turmoil and divisiveness in the American society. 
At the same time, the United States had major problems 
both at home and abroad that needed the maximum personal 
attention of the President and many others in the Govern­
ment. 

It seemed to me that as long as this divisiveness 
continued, this turmoil existed, caused by the charges 
and counter charges, the responsible people in the 
Government could not give their total attention to the 
problems that we had to solve at home and abroad. 
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And the net result was that I was more 
anxious to heal the Nation. That was the top priority. 
I felt then, and I feel now, that the action I took 
will do that. I couldn't be oblivious, however, to 
news accounts that I had concerning the President's health, 
but the major reason for the action.Itook related· to the 
effort to reconcile divisions in our country and to 
heal the wounds that had festered far too long. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, after you had told us 
that you were going to allow the legal process to go on 
before you decided whether to pardon him, why did 
you decide on Sunday morning,abruptl~to pardon Presi­
dent·Nixon? 

THE PRESIDENT: I didn't decide abruptly. I 
explained a moment ago the process that I went through 
subsequent to the last press conference. When I had 
assembled all of that information that came to me 
through my counsel, I then most carefully analyzed the 
situation in the country and I decided that we could not 
afford in America an extended period of continued turmoil 
and the fact that the trial, and all of the parts thereof, 
would have lasted a year -- perhaps more -- with the 
continuation of the dfvisione in America, I felt that 
I should take the action that I did,promptly and 
effectively. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, I would like to ask you 
a question about the decision relating to custody of the 
Nixon tapes and documents. Considering the enormous 
interest that the Special Prosecutor's office had in 
those documents for further investigation, I am wondering 
why the negotiations with ~w. Nixon's representatives were 
conducted strictly between the counsel in your office 
without bringing in discussions with either Mr. Jaworski's 
representatives or those from the Justice Department. 

THE PRESIDENT: In the first place, I did receive 
a memorandum, or legal opinion, from the Department of 
Justice which indicated that in the opinion of the 
Department of Justice, the documents, tapes, the 
ownership of them were in the hands of the former 
President. Historically, that has been the case for all 
Presidents. 

Now, the negotiations for the handling of the 
tapes and documents were undertaken and consummated by my 
staff and the staff of the former President. I believe 
that they have been properly preserved and they will be 
available under subpoena for any criminal proceeding. 
Now, the Special Prosecutor's staff has indicated some 
concern. I am saying tonight tha~ my staff is working with 
the Special Prosecutor's staff to try and alleviate 
any concerns that they have. I hope a satisfactory 
arrangement can be worked out. 
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QUESTION: Mr. President, during your 
confirmation hearings as Vice President, you said that 
you did not think that the country would stand for a 
President to pardon his predecessor. Has your mind-been 
changed about such public opinion? 

THE PRESIDENT: In those hearings before 
the Senate Committee on Rules and Administration, I 
was asked a hypothetical question, and in answer to 
that hypothetical question I responded by saying that 
I did not think the American people would stand for such 
an action. 

Now that I am in the White House and don't 
have to answer hypothetical questions but have to 
deal with reality, it was my judgment, after analyzing 
all of the facts, that it was in the best interest of 
the United States for me to take the action that I did. 

I think if you will reread what I said in 
answer to that hypothetical question, I did not say I 
wouldn't. I simply said that under the way the question 
was phrased, the American people would object. 

But I am absolutely convinced when dealing with 
reality in this very, very ·.difficult situation, that 
I made the right decision in an effort, an honest, 
conscientious effort, to end the divisions and the 
turmoil in the United States. 

Mr. Lisagor. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, is there any safe­
guard in the tapes agreement that was made with Mr. Nixon, 
first,with their destruction in the event anything 
happens to him, because under the agreement they will 
be destroyed, and secondly, should not the tapes be 
kept in the White House until the Special Prosecutor has 
finished dealing with them? 

THE PRESIDENT: The tapes and the documents 
are still in our possession and we are, as I said a 
moment ago, working with the Special Prosecutor's office, 
to alleviate any concerns they have as to their disposition 
and their availability. 

\ 

The agreemen~ as to destruction is quite clear-
cut. As long as Mr. Nixon is alive and during the 
period of time that is set forth, they are available for 
subpoena by a court involving any criminal proceedings. 
I think this is a necessary requirement for the protection 
of evidence for any such action. 
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QUESTION: Mr. President, recent Congress­
ional testimony has indicated that the CIA, under the 
direction of a committee headed by Dr. Kissinger, 
attempted to destablize the Government of Chile under 
former President Allende. 

Is it the policy of your Administration to 
attempt to destabilize the_governments of other 
democracies? 

THE PRESIDENT: Let me answer in general. I 
think this is a vP-~Y important question. 

Our Government, like other governments, does 
take certain actions in the intelligence field to help 
implement foreign policy and protect national security. I 
am informed reliably that Communist nations spend vastly 
more money than we do for the same kind of purposes. 

Now, in this particular case, as'I understand 
it, and there is no doubt in my mind,our Government had no 
involvement whatsoever in the Allende coup. To my 
knowledge, nobody has charged that. The facts are we had 
no involvement in any way whatsoever in the coup itself. 

In a period of time, three or four years ago, 
there was an effort being made by the Allende government 
to destroy opposition news media, both the writing press 
as well as the electronic press,and to destroy opposition 
political parties. 

The effort that was made in this case was 
to help and assist the preservation of opposition news­
papers and electronic media and to preserve opposition 
political parties. 

I think this is in the best interest of the 
people in Chile, and certainly in our best interest. 

Now, may I add one further comment. 

The 40 committee was established in 1948. It 
has been in existence under Presidents since that time. 
That committee reviews every covert operation undertaken 
by our Government, and that information is relayed to the 
responsible Congressional committees where it is reviewed 
by House and Senate committees. 

It seems to me that the 40 committee should 
continue in existence, and I am going to meet with the 
responsible Congressional committees to see whether or 
not they want any changes in the review process so that 
the Congress, as well as the President, are fully informed 
and are fully included in the operations for any such 
action. 
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QUESTION: In view of public reaction, do 
you think the Nixon pardon really served to bind up the 
Nation's wounds? I wonder if you would assess public 
reaction to that move. 

THE PRESIDENT: I must say that the decision 
has created more antagonism than I anticipated. But as 
I look over the long haul with a trial or several trials 
of a former President, criminal trials, the 
possibility of a former President being in the dock so 
to speak, and the divisions that would have existed not 
just for a limited period of time, but for a long 
period of time, it seems to me that when I had the 
choice between that possibility and the possibility of 
taking direct action hoping to conclude it, I am 
still convinced, despite the public reaction so far, that 
the decision I made was the right one. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, in regard to the 
pardon, you talk about the realities of the situation. 
Now those realities rightly or wrongly included a good 
many people who speculate a~cut whether or not there is 
some sort of arrangement -- even some of them call a deal 
between you and the former President or between your staff 
and his staff, resignation in exchange for a full pardon. 

The question is: Is there or was there, to 
your knowledge, any kind of understanding about this? 

THE PRESIDENT: There was no understanding, no 
deal between me and the former President, nor between my 
staff and the staff of the former President, none 
whatsoever. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, there is a bill that 
the Treasury Department has put forward, I think it is 
about 38 pages. Under this bill, which deals with getting 
hold of the returns, Internal Revenue r.eturns of the 
citizens of the country, you could take action to get those 
returns whenever you wanted to. 

I wonder if you are aware of this, and if you 
feel that you need to get those returns of citizens. 
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THE PRESIDENT: It is my understanding that a 
President has, by tradition and practice, and by law, 
the right to have access to income tax returns. I 
personally think that is something that should be kept 
very closely held. A person's income tax return is 
a very precious thing to that individual and, therefore~ 
I am about to issue an Executive Order that makes it even 
more restrictive as to how those returns can be handled 
and I do think that a proposed piece of legislation that is 

coming to me and subsequently will be submitted, as I 
recollect, to the Congress would also greatly tighten up 
the availability or accessibility of income tax returns. 
I think they should be closely held and I can assure 
you that they will be most judiciously handled as far as I 
am concerned. 

Yes. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, looking beyond the Nixon 
papers and·in view of some criticism in Cgngre$s., do you believe 
we may have now reached the point where Presidential 
White House papers should remain in the Government's 
hands as the property of the Government? 

THE PRESIDENT: As far as I am personally 
concerned, I can see a legitimate reason for Presidential 
papers remaining the property of the Government. In my 
own case, I made a decision some years ago to turn over 
all of my Congressional papers, all of my Vice Presidential 
papers to the University of Hichigan archives. 

As far as I am concerned, whether they go to the 
archives for use or whether they stay the possession of the 
Government, I don't think it makes too much difference. 

I have no desire, personally, to retain whatever 
papers come out of my Administration. 

Mr. Mollenhoff. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, at the last press 
conference you said, 11The code of ethics that will be 
followed will be the example that I set. 11 Do you find 
any conflicts of interest in the decision to grant a 
sweeping pardon to your life-long friend and your 
financial benefactor with no consultation for advice 
and judgment for the legal fallout? 

THE PRESIDENT: The decision to grant a pardon 
to Mr. Nixon was made primarily, as I have expressed, for 
the purpose of trying to heal the wounds throughout the 
country between Americans on one side of the issue or the 
other. Mr. Nixon nominated me for the office of Vice 
President. I was confirmed overwhelmingly in the House 
as well as in the Senate. Every action I have taken, 
Hr. Mollenhoff, is predicated on my conscience without 
any concern or consideration as to favor as far as I am 
concerned. 
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Yes. 

QUESTION: If your intention was to heal the 
wounds of the Nation, sir, why did you grant only a 
conditional amnesty to the Vietnam war veterans while 
granting a full pardon to President Nixon? 

THE PRESIDENT: The only connection between those 
two cases is the effort that I made in the one to heal 
the wounds involving the charges against Mr. Nixon and my 
honest and cone.oient:ious offort to heal the wounds 
for those who had deserted military service or dodged the 
draft. That is the only connection between the two. 

In one case, you have a President who was forced 
to resign because of circumstances involving his Administra­
tion and he has been shamed and disgraced by that resigna­
tion. In the case of the draftdo4gers and Army and 
military deserters, we are trying to heal the wounds by 
the action that I took with the signing of the proclama­
tion this morning. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, another concern that has 
been voiced around the country since the pardon is that 
the judicial process as it finally unwinds may not write 
the definitive chapter on Watergate and perhaps with par­
ticular regard to Mr. Nixon's particular involvement, 
however total, however it may have been in truth. My 
question is, would you consider appointing a special 
commission with extraordinary powers to look into all of the 
evidentiary material and to write that chapter and not 
leave it to later history? 

THE PRESIDENT: Well, it seems to me as I look 
at what has been done, I think you find a mass of evidence 
that has been accummulated. In the first instance, you 
have the very intensive investigation conducted by the 
House Committee on the Judiciary. It was a very well­
conducted investigation. It came up with valumes of 
information. 

In addition, the Special Prosecutor's office 
under Mr. Jaworski has conducted an intensive investigation 
and the Special Prosecutor's office will issue a report at 
the conclusion of their responsibilities that I think will 
probably make additional information available to the 
American people. 

And thirdly, as the various criminal trials proceed 
in the months ahead, there obviously will be additional 
information made available to the American people. So, 
when you see what has been done and what undoubtedly 
will be done, I think the full story will be made available 
to the American people. 
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QUESTION: Mr. President, could you give us an 
idea who would succeed General Haig,and how are you 
coming on your search for a Press Secretary? 

THE PRESIDENT: Do I have a lot of candidates 
here? (Laughter) No shows. (Laughter) 

I have several people in mind to replace 
General Haig, but I have made no decision on that. It 
was just announced today that the NATO countries have 
accepted him as the officer handling those responsibilities. 

I think he is to take office succeeding General 
Goodpaster on December 15. He assumes his responsi­
bilities as the head of u.s. military forces November 1. 
In the next few days undoubtedly I will make the decision 
as to the individual to succeed him. 

So far as the Press Secretary is concerned, 
we are actively working on that and we hope to have an 
announcement in a relatively short period of time. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, prior to your deciding 
to pardon Mr. Nixon, did you have, apart from those 
reports, any information either from associations of the 
President or from his family or from any other source 
about his health, about his medical condition? 

THE PRESIDENT: Prior to the decision that I 
made granting a pardon to Mr. Nixon~ I had no other 
specific information concerning his health other than 
what I'had read in the news .media or heard in the news 
media. I had not gotten any information from any of the 
Nixon family. The sole source was what I had read in 
the news media plus one other fact. 

On Saturday before the Sunday a member of my 
staff was working with me on the several decisions I 
had to make. He was, from my staff, the one who had 
been in negotiations on Friday with the President and 
his staff. 

At the conclusion of decisions that were made, 
I asked him, how did the President look, and he reported 
to me his ·observations. 

But other than what I had read or heard and 
this particular incident, I had no precise information 
concerning the President's health. 
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QUESTION: Mr. President, your own economic 
advisers are suggesting that to save the economy which 
is very bad and very pessimistic, we are hearing the 
word "depression" used now. I wonder how you feel about 
whether we are heading for a depression? 

THE PRESIDENT: Let me say very strongly that 
the United States is not going to have a depression. The 
overall economy of the United States is strong. Employment 
is still high. We do have the problem of inflation. We 
do have related problems, and we aregoing to come up with 
some answers that I hope will solve those problems. 

We are not going to have a depression. We are 
going to work to make sure that our economy improves in.the 
months ahead. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, in the face of massive 
food shortages and the prospects of significant starvation, 
will the United States be able to significantly increase its 
food aid to foreign countries, and what is our position 
going to be at the Rome conference on participation in 
the world grain reserves? 

THE PRESIDENT: Within the next few days a 
very major decision in this area will be made. I am not 
at liberty to tell you what the answer will be because 
it has not been decided. 

But it is my hope that the United States for 
humanitarian purposes will be able to increase its 
contribution to those nations that have suffered because 
of drought or any of the other problems related to human 
needs. 
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QUESTION: Back to the CIA, unde~ what inter­
national law do we have a right to attempt to destablize the 
constitutionally-elected government of another country, 
and does the Soviet Union have a similar right to try 
to destabilize the Government of Canada, for example, or 
the United States? 

THE PRESIDENT: I am not going to pass judgment 
on whether it is permitted or authorized under 
international law. It is a recognized fact that historically, 
as well as presently, such actions are taken in the best 
interest of the countries involved. 

QUESTION: Mr. President, last month when you 
assumed the Presidency, you pledged openness and candor. 
Last week you decided on the ex-President's pardon in 
virtually total secrecy. Despite all you have said tonight, 
there would still seem to be some confusion, some 
contradiction. 

My question is this: Are the watchwords of 
your Administration still openness and candor? 

THE PRESIDENT: Without any question, without 
any reservation. And I think in the one instance that 
you cite, it was a sole decision, and believe me, it 
wasn't easy, and since I was the only one who could make 
that decision, I thought I had to search my own soul 
after consulting with a limited number of people, and I 
did it, and I think in the longrun it was the right 
decision. 

THE PRESS: Thank you, Mr. President. 

END (AT 8:30 P.M. EDT) 




